THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DEC 08 2014

Honorable Judge J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2013-CP-10-02243
Appellate Case No. 2014-001085

Popie Lown Roberts,

Respondent,

v.

The Health Sciences Foundation of The Medical
University of South Carolina and The Franke Home,
Inc., d/b/a The Franke Home at Seaside, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert M. Kunes, Esq. (SC Bar #3579)
Andrew W. Chandler, Esq. (SC Bar #69388)
David H. Kunes, Esq. (SC Bar #76310)
EVANS CARTER KUNES & BENNETT, P.A.
P.O. Box 369
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 577-2300
(843) 577-2055 (fax)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE PROBATE COURT'S CONSTRUCTION OF THE DECEDENT'S WILL WHERE THE COURTS FAILED TO APPLY PROPERLY SECTION 62-2-604 OF THE PROBATE CODE TO DISPOSE OF THE SUM OF ONE MILLION DOLLARS IN FAVOR OF THE CHARITIES?

- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN ITS APPLICATION OF THE PROBATE CODE AND RELATED CASE LAW IN AFFIRMING THE PROBATE COURT'S DECISION WHERE THE PROBATE COURT FAILED FIRST TO CONSTRUE THE LANGUAGE OF THE WILL ITSELF, AND, INSTEAD, RELIED ON INADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE TO DETERMINE THE DECEDENT'S TESTAMENTARY INTENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In her Last Will and Testament dated June 1, 2005 (the "Will"), Caroline Bischoff Lown (the "Decedent") named three devisees, Mrs. Popie Lown Roberts ("Mrs. Roberts"), The Health Sciences Foundation of The Medical University of South Carolina (hereinafter "MUSC Foundation") and The Franke Home, Inc., d/b/a The Franke Home at Seaside ("Lutheran Homes", together with MUSC Foundation, the "Charities") to receive her estate. (R. pp. 240-241) (Will, p. 1-2). In Article SECOND, the Decedent devised all of her personal property to Mrs. Roberts. (R. p. 240) (Will, p. 1). In Article THIRD, the Decedent devised the sum of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) to Mrs. Roberts. (R. p. 240) (Will, p. 1). In Article FOURTH, the Decedent named Mrs. Roberts and the Charities as the three beneficiaries of the residue of her estate. (R. p. 241) (Will, p. 2).

In defining the share for Mrs. Roberts under Article FOURTH, the Decedent used the specific language "less, however, the sum of One Million and 00/100 (\$1,000,000,00) Dollars, paid to her, or her issue, under the preceding bequest." (R. p. 241) (Will, p. 2).

On April 25, 2011, Mrs. Roberts filed a Petition to Construe the Decedent's Will and subsequently filed on July 11, 2011 an Amended Petition. (R. p. 033, p. 061) (Petition; Amended Petition). The Charities filed an Answer and Counterclaim on June 28, 2011 and subsequently filed on July 29, 2011 an Amended Answer and Counterclaim in which the Charities sought a declaratory judgment that Section 62-2-604 of the South Carolina Probate Code disposes of the share, or portion of a share, of any residuary devisee that fails in favor of the remaining residuary devisees. (R. p. 049, p. 083) (Answer; Amended Answer, p. 5).

On January 31, 2012, the Probate Court held a hearing on the Petition and pleadings

submitted in connection therewith. (R. p. 127) (Prob. Ct. Tr. (Jan. 31, 2012)). At the hearing, Mrs. Roberts asserted that the language in Article FOURTH of the Decedent's Will was ambiguous and sought to admit extrinsic evidence to determine whether a latent ambiguity in the Will exists. (R. pp. 147-150) (Prob. Ct. Tr. (Jan. 31, 2012) p. 21-24). The extrinsic evidence before the Probate Court was Mrs. Roberts' testimony and the deposition testimony of the attorney who drafted the Decedent's Will (hereinafter, the "drafting lawyer"). (R. pp. 147-150, pp. 167-183) (Prob. Ct. Tr. (Jan. 31, 2012) p. 21-24, 54-79). The Charities objected to the introduction of the drafting lawyer's testimony on hearsay grounds and the Dead Man's Statue. (R. p. 167) (Prob. Ct. Tr. (Jan. 31, 2012) p. 54). The Probate Court admitted the drafting lawyer's testimony as an exception to the hearsay rule, which was later reversed, so that the Probate Court could determine whether an ambiguity existed. (R. p. 010, p. 032) (Prob. Ct. Order (Jun. 26, 2012), p. 10; Cir. Ct. Order (Apr. 10, 2014) p. 10). In its Order dated June 26, 2012, the Probate Court held as follows: (1) a latent ambiguity exists "with regard to the terms of Mrs. Lown's will as it pertains to the computation of the sums to be distributed among the Devisees requiring the court to consider extrinsic evidence of the testator's intent" and (2) "[r]egardless of whether there is a latent ambiguity in the will which requires the court to consider extrinsic evidence with regard to the testator's intent, the Court makes a factual finding that the testator intended to make a single bequest to [Mrs.] Roberts in the amount of \$1,000,000 (Item THIRD of the Will), and a single bequest to [Mrs.] Roberts of the personal property (Item SECOND of the Will) with all remaining residual property being divided equally among the three named devisees [sic] (Item FOURTH of the Will)." (R. p. 007, p. 012) (Prob. Ct. Order (Jun 26, 2012) p. 7, 12).

Following a motion for reconsideration filed by the Charities and a hearing on October 31, 2012, the Probate Court modified its order to find that “‘less, however, the sum of One Million and 00/100 (\$1,000,000.00) Dollars, paid to her, or her issue, under the preceding bequest’ is the equivalent sentence as though it said ‘*after*, however, the sum of One Million and 00/100 (\$1,000,000.00) Dollars, paid to her, or her issue, under the preceding bequest.’” (R. p. 019) (Prob. Ct. Order (Apr. 4, 2013), p. 5).

The Charities filed and served on Mrs. Roberts a Notice of Intent to Appeal on April 17, 2013. On December 17, 2013, the Circuit Court held a hearing to consider the appeal. (R. p. 209) (Cir. Ct. Tr. (Dec. 17, 2013)). The Circuit Court found that the drafting lawyer’s testimony was inadmissible hearsay and excluded such evidence. (R. p. 032) (Cir. Ct. Order (Apr. 10, 2014), p. 10). Although the evidence was excluded and is now the law of the case, the Circuit Court, in its construction of the Will, found “the ‘less, however,’ proviso may be seen as a misplaced repetition of the clause which begins Article IV, emphasizing that the residue is that which remains ‘[after] the payment of the specific bequests’ and the payment of expenses.” (R. pp. 031-032) (Cir. Ct. Order (Apr. 10, 2014), pp. 9-10). The Circuit Court “reached the same conclusion as did the Probate Court in the construction of the will, without considering the testimony of [the drafting lawyer].” (R. p. 032) (Cir. Ct. Order (Apr. 10, 2014), p. 10).

ARGUMENT

The underlying action before this court is an action to construe a will. An action to construe a will is an action at law. *Kemp v. Rawlings*, 358 S.C. 28, 594 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2004). “When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts.” *In re Estate of Boynton*, 355 S.C. 299, 584 S.E.2d 154, 155 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *WDW Props. v. City of Sumter*, 342 S.C. 6, 10, 535 S.E.2d 631, 632 (2000)). “In such cases, the appellate court owes no particular deference to the trial court’s legal conclusions.” *Id.* (quoting *J.K. Constr., Inc. v. W. Carolina Reg’l Sewer Auth.*, 336 S.C. 162, 166, 519 S.E.2d 561, 563 (1999)). An appellate court should reverse a lower court’s rulings when the lower courts’ findings are based on an error of law. *Polson v. Craig*, 351 S.C. 433, 437-438, 570 S.E.2d 190, 192 (Ct. App. 2002). An appellate court should also disturb a lower court’s findings of fact when there is no evidence that reasonably supports those findings. *Id.*

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT SECTION 62-2-604(b) IS INAPPLICABLE TO DISPOSE OF “LESS, HOWEVER, THE SUM OF ONE MILLION DOLLARS” IN FAVOR OF THE CHARITIES.

Section 62-2-604 of the South Carolina Probate Code provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(b) Except as provided in Section 62-2-603 if the residue is devised to two or more persons and the share of one of the residuary devisees fails for any reason, his share passes to the other residuary devisee, or to other residuary devisees in proportion to their interests in the residue.

S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-604 (1987) (Emphasis added). The South Carolina Reporter’s Comments to Section 62-2-604(b) provide that the “rule preserves from intestacy devises

failing **for any reason**, e.g., because of the indefiniteness of the devise, illegality, a violation of the Rule Against Perpetuities, incapacity of the devisee, or the failure of the devisee to survive to take the devise, . . .” (emphasis added). REPORTER’S COMMENTS, 1986 Act No. 539, §1.

In the Restatement of Property Restatement (Third) of Property: Wills and Other Donative Transfers (1999), § 5.5, Comment o provides:

"For the purpose of determining what happens to the share of a residuary devisee who fails to survive the testator, a residuary clause that devises the residue to two or more persons is treated as if it created a class gift, even if the devise is not in the form of a class gift. The contrary rule, sometimes called the *no-residue-of-a-residue rule*, is not followed in modern statutory law, including the Uniform Probate Code, nor in this Restatement. Thus, if an antilapse statute does not apply, the share of a residuary devisee that fails for any reason passes to the other residuary devisee, or, if more than one, to the other residuary devisees in proportion to the interest of each in the remaining part of the residue. A residuary devise lapses and passes to intestacy only if an antilapse statute does not apply and no residuary devisee survives the testator. . . . The no-residue-of-a-residue rule is rejected for all situations in which a devise to a residuary devisee fails, regardless of the reason for the failure."

(emphasis added).

A. The South Carolina legislature abolished the “no-residue-of-a-residue” rule with the adoption of the Uniform Probate Code in 1987.

With the adoption of the Uniform Probate Code, including Section 62-2-604, effective as of July 1, 1987, the South Carolina Legislature statutorily abolished the “no-residue-of-a-residue” rule. The lower courts erred in relying upon case law that predates the adoption of the Uniform Probate Code in reaching their holdings. For example, the Probate

Court relied upon *Harriett S. Bahan v. Citizens and S. Nat'l Bank of South Carolina*, 267 S.C. 303, 227 S.E.2d 671 (1976) for the proposition that “if the gift which fails is itself a part of the residuary it passes by intestacy” and the Circuit Court cited *Padgett v. Black*, 229 S.C. 142, 92 S.E.2d 153 (1956) for the application of the antiquated “English Rule.” (R. p. 009, p. 030) (Prob. Ct. Order (Jun. 26, 2012) p. 9; Cir. Ct. Order (Apr. 10, 2014) p. 8).

The reliance on these cases is misplaced. In 1976, the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Bahan* relied upon 80 Am.Jr. (2d) Wills, Section 1695 and *Padgett v. Black*, 229 S.C. 142, 92 S.E.2d 153 (1956) in support of its holding, both of which espouse the English “no-residue-of-a-residue” rule and predate the adoption of the Uniform Probate Code. 267 S.C. 303, 309, 227 S.E.2d 671, 675. This reliance on case law and secondary authority that predates the adoption of Section 62-2-604 is reversible error.

B. The Circuit Court erred in its application of *Ex Parte Byrom* and the "residue of the residue" rule.

The Circuit Court misapplied the “residue of the residue” rule set forth in *Ex Parte Byrom*, 47 So.3d 791, 793 (Ala. 2010) in support of the court’s conclusion that a “withholding” of a share of the residue passes under intestacy. Section 43-8-225(b) of Alabama Code of Laws contains almost the identical language as South Carolina’s Section 62-2-604, which is a codification of the “residue of the residue” rule. The “residue of the residue rule” is, in fact, the modern view that causes the share of a failed residuary devise to pass to the other residuary devisees. The antiquated English rule is the “no-residue-of-a-residue rule”, which has been rejected by the Uniform Probate Code and the Restatement of Property. The Circuit Court incorrectly reasoned that if the one million dollars were withheld from Mrs. Robert’s share, it would pass by intestate succession in accordance with

the English Rule, which applies in situations “where the residuary clause does not fully dispose of the residue of the estate.” *Ex Parte Byrom*, 47 So.3d 791, 793 (Ala. 2010). Instead of applying Section 62-2-604(b) and the “residue of a residue” rule, the Circuit Court uses the premise that the one million dollars would pass under intestacy to construe the Decedent’s Will in a fashion that results in Mrs. Roberts receiving one-third of the residue.

C. This Court should liberally construe Section 62-2-604 to promote the underlying purposes and policies of the Probate Code.

Section 62-1-102(a) of the Probate Code provides “[t]his Code shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies.” S.C. Code Ann. 62-1-102(a) (1987) (emphasis added). Section 62-1-102(b) of the Probate Code provides:

The underlying purposes and policies of this Code are:

- (1) to simplify and clarify the law concerning the affairs of decedents, missing persons, protected persons, minors, and incapacitated persons;
- (2) to discover and make effective the intent of a decedent in the distribution of his property;
- (3) to promote a speedy and efficient system for liquidating the estate of the decedent and making distribution to his successors;
- (4) to facilitate use and enforcement of certain trusts;
- (5) to make uniform the law among the various jurisdictions.

S.C. Code Ann. 62-1-102(a) (1987).

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the Legislature. *Lincoln General v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co.*, 406 S.C. 534, 538-539, 754 S.E.2d 437, 439 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000)). “All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and

that language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute." *Id.* (quoting *Broadhurst v. City of Myrtle Beach Election Comm'n*, 342 S.C. 373, 380, 537 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000)). In its adoption of Section 62-2-604(b), the South Carolina legislature abolished the "no-residue-of-the-residue" rule in favor of the modern view that a residuary clause fully disposes of the residue of an estate. Our courts should liberally construe Section 62-2-604(b) in light of this intended purpose.

The Probate Court and Circuit Court narrowly construed the language of Section 62-2-604(b) to require that the entire devise must fail instead of broadly construing the statute in recognition of a partial failure of a devise, as is the case here. Under the analysis and reasoning of the Circuit Court, if Mrs. Roberts and her issue had predeceased the Decedent, the devise to Mrs. Roberts would have failed in its entirety and, under Section 62-2-604, the Charities would have received an equal share of the residue of the Decedent's estate with no part of it passing under intestacy. There is no other possible construction of Section 62-2-604 and its application to a situation where a residuary devisee does not survive the Decedent.

Nevertheless, both the Probate Court and Circuit Court reasoned that, if the language "less, however, the sum of One Million and 00/100 (\$1,000,000.00) Dollars, paid to her, or her issue, under the preceding bequest" causes \$1,000,000 to be withheld from the share of Mrs. Roberts, it would pass under intestacy and not pursuant to Section 62-2-604. In its analysis of the applicability of Section 62-2-604, the Probate Court initially stated "[t]he devise to Mrs. Roberts did not fail. At worst, it did not convey all of residuary to any named beneficiaries thereby creating a partial intestacy." (R. p. 009) (Prob. Ct. Order (Jun 26,

2012) p. 9). Reaching a similar conclusion that the million dollars, if withheld from the share passing to Mrs. Roberts, would pass under intestacy pursuant to the “English Rule,” the Circuit Court also misapplied Section 62-2-604(b). (R. p. 030) (Cir. Ct. Order (Apr. 10, 2014) p. 8).

The fundamental premise relied upon by the lower courts in reaching their holdings is that the Decedent intended to dispose of all of her property under her Will and that she did not wish for any part of her property to pass pursuant to intestacy. The modern view of the Probate Code does exactly this—through the application of Section 62-2-604(b), a residuary clause fully disposes of the residue of an estate without the need to resort to construing the Will in a fashion that avoids intestacy. Nevertheless, the lower courts based their conclusions on the flawed premise that one million dollars would pass under intestacy unless the language of the Will is construed in a fashion that prevents intestacy. Section 62-2-604 must be liberally construed so as to cause the failure of \$1,000,000 to pass to the remaining residuary beneficiaries in equal shares without the need to construe the language of the Will in a fashion that prevents intestacy.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS APPLICATION OF THE PROBATE CODE AND RELATED CASE LAW IN AFFIRMING THE PROBATE COURT’S HOLDING THAT MRS. ROBERTS IS ENTITLED TO ONE-THIRD OF THE DECEDENT’S RESIDUARY ESTATE.

In an effort to avoid the result asserted by Mrs. Roberts that \$1,000,000 would pass by intestacy, the lower courts, under the guise of construing the Decedent’s Will, re-wrote the language of the decedent’s Will to avoid the application of Section 62-2-604 to cause Mrs. Roberts to receive one-third of the residue under testacy.

A. The Probate Court's failure to follow the proper procedure for the construction of the decedent's Will by relying first on inadmissible evidence, instead of the language of the Will itself, is reversible error.

The guiding principles for the construction of the Will are set forth in the South Carolina Probate Code. Section 62-1-102, entitled, "Purposes; rules of construction" provides, in relevant part, as follows: "(b) The underlying purposes and policies of this [Probate] Code are: . . . (2) to discover and make effective the intent of a decedent in the distribution of his property. . ." S.C. Code. Ann § 62-1-102(b) (1987). Section 62-2-601, entitled, "Rules of construction and intention" provides that "[t]he intention of the testator as expressed in his will controls the legal effects of his disposition." S.C. Code. Ann § 62-2-601 (1987). The Reporter's Comments note: "Section 62-2-601 states the first principle of the construction of wills, that the testator's intention as expressed in the will controls, a codification of South Carolina case law." REPORTER'S COMMENTS, 1986 Act No. 539, §1.

1. The Probate Court's first reference must be the Will's language itself.

This Court in the *Estate of Hyman*, 606 S.E.2d 205, 207, 362 S.C. 20, 25-26 (Ct. App. 2004) set forth the procedure for how courts should construe a will as follows:

In construing a will, a court should give effect to the expressed intention of the testator. In ascertaining this intent, a court's first reference is always to the will's language itself. (internal citations omitted; emphasis added).

In light of the Probate Code's underlying purposes and policies, and following the reasoning and analysis of this Court in *Hyman*, the court's first reference in determining the Decedent's intent, as expressed in the Will, must be the actual language of the Will itself.

Notably, Respondent acknowledged that the Will can be performed exactly as it is written but then argues that extrinsic evidence should be admitted to determine the Decedent's true testamentary intent. (R. pp. 142-144) (Prob. Ct. Hr'g (Jan. 31, 2012) p. 16-18.).

Prior to the hearings, neither the Probate Court nor the Circuit Court had actually read the language of the Will. (R. p. 138, p. 227) (Prob. Ct. Hr'g (Jan. 31, 2012) p. 12; Cir. Ct. Hr'g (Dec. 17, 2013), p. 22). Instead, at the initial hearing, the Probate Court allowed counsel for Mrs. Roberts to paraphrase the Decedent's Will and to introduce the testimony of the drafting lawyer in support of its holding that Mrs. Roberts receive one-third of the residue. (R. p. 138) (Prob. Ct. Hr'g (Jan. 31, 2012) p. 12). Despite the objections of the Charities as to the admissibility of such evidence, the Probate Court allowed the testimony of Mrs. Roberts and the lawyer who drafted the Will to be introduced and to influence the Probate Court in making its findings of fact and reaching its holdings. Although the Circuit Court ultimately found that the testimony of the drafting lawyer was inadmissible, which is now the law of the case, the process by which the Probate Court reached its finding of facts and conclusions of law was prejudicial and is reversible error. *See Polson v. Craig*, 351 S.C. 433, 437-438, 570 S.E.2d 190, 192 (Ct. App. 2002) (affirming the circuit court's reversal of the probate court because there was no evidence that reasonably supported the probate court's decision and the probate court decision was based on an error of law).

2. Inadmissible evidence considered by the Probate Court improperly biased the Court's holding and is reversible error.

This Court in the *Estate of Hyman* addressed the issue of the use of extrinsic evidence in a court's determination of a decedent's testamentary intent. 606 S.E.2d 205, 207, 362 S.C. 20, 25-26 (Ct. App. 2004). This Court reasoned that if there is no ambiguity in a decedent's

will, a court cannot resort to extrinsic evidence to assist the Court in determining a decedent's intent; rather a court's first reference in ascertaining the Decedent's intent is always the Will's language itself. *Id.* at 207. When construing this language, the reviewing tribunal must give the words contained in the document their *ordinary and plain meaning*. *Id.* (Emphasis added). Where the testator's intent is ascertainable from the will and not counter to law, we will give it effect. *Id.*

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