**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS**

**J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Case No. 2013-CP-10-2243  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001085**

**Popie Lown Roberts, ..... Respondent,**

**v.**

**The Health Sciences Foundation of the Medical  
University of South Carolina and The Franke Home,  
Inc., d/b/a The Franke Home at Seaside, ..... Appellants.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**Michael R. Daniel  
S.C. Bar No. 1537  
336 Cardinal Dr.  
Elloree, SC 29047  
(843) 729-6472**

**James B. Richardson, Jr.  
S.C. Bar No. 4718  
1229 Lincoln Street  
Columbia, SC 29201

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The appellants have abandoned the construction of the will which they advocated in the lower courts. They advocated a construction giving each of them and Mrs. Roberts an equal third of the gross estate. Now they contend that each of the appellants should receive a half-million dollars more than Mrs. Roberts. The appellants cannot adopt a new theory on appeal. Their new theory is incorrect as a matter of law, in any event.**

**A. Mrs. Lown's will cannot possibly be construed in the manner urged by the appellants in the courts below. They cannot abandon that position and take a new one on appeal.**

### Summary of Argument

The question on appeal to the circuit court was not whether there may be a construction of this will which is better than the one made by the probate court. The limited question was whether the construction advocated by the appellants in the probate court was correct as a matter of law.<sup>3</sup> The construction advocated by the appellants in the

---

<sup>2</sup> See, e.g., the final paragraph of appellants' brief:

This case should be remanded to the Probate Court to apply S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-604(b) so that the Charities receive an equal share of the one million dollars that is withheld from Mrs. Roberts' one-third share.

<sup>3</sup> An action to construe a will is an action at law. *Kemp v. Rawlings*, 358 S.C. 28, 594 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2004). "If a proceeding in the Probate Court is in the nature of an action at law, review by the Circuit Court . . . extends merely to the correction of errors (continued...)"

courts below converts the residue into the gross estate and rewrites the will. It depends entirely upon inserting a wrong conjunction into the opening words of Article IV. Whatever else may be said of it, the appellants' construction surely was not right as a matter of law. The appellants cannot now leave that flawed construction behind and urge a new construction — equally flawed — on appeal.

\* \* \* \* \*

The appellants have abandoned the position which they consistently took in both courts below and have switched to a novel theory. For the first time, the appellants now contend that one million dollars was excepted from Mrs. Roberts' share of the residue. They now say that this one million dollars is a failed devise, and that the one million dollars goes to the two appellants. Instead of urging a construction of the will by which each of the three beneficiaries would receive an equal share of the gross estate, as they did in the probate court and in the circuit court, they now claim that the two appellants should receive one million dollars more than Mrs. Roberts.

The appellants did not contend in the probate court or in the circuit court that one million dollars of the residuary estate is a failed devise within the meaning of Section 62-2-604(b), as apparently they do now. In the proposed order which the appellants submitted to the probate court, there was no contention that this will contains a failed devise. [Appellants' proposed order, R. 110-17.] On the contrary, the appellants sought a ruling that the gross estate is devised by the will in equal thirds. The probate court specifically found that there is no failed devise. In their motion to reconsider in probate court, the appellants did not contend that any part of the devise to Mrs. Roberts is a failed devise within the meaning of Section 62-2-604(b). Rather, they asked for a sort of theoretical declaration of the meaning of this code section with no claim that it actually applies here,

---

<sup>3</sup>(...continued)  
of law." *Bob Jones Univ. v. Strandell*, 344 S.C. 224, 229, 543 S.E.2d 251, 253 (Ct. App. 2001).

nor could they have done so without abandoning the construction which they advocated. The probate court denied that motion in material part. In their grounds of appeal to circuit court [R. 118-24], the appellants said nothing about the code section and made no claim that the devise to Mrs. Roberts or any part of it is a failed devise within the meaning of Section 62-2-604(b) or that the probate court erred in this regard in any respect. The circuit court repeated the probate court's finding that there was no failed devise and that Section 62-2-604(b) has no application to this case. The appellants did not move the circuit court to reconsider that ruling.

The appellants contended in probate court that the residue consists of the entire gross estate — including the personal property and the one million dollars bequeathed in Articles II and III. Their contention was that the entire gross estate was bequeathed by Article IV to Mrs. Roberts and the two appellants in equal thirds. [Appellants' amended answer & counterclaim, ¶¶ 17-25, R. 81-83.] Their contention was that the value of the personal property bequeathed to Mrs. Roberts in Article II and the one million dollars bequeathed to her in Article III should be counted toward her one-third share of the gross estate. The appellants could only reach this construction of the will by reading the conjunction “**and**” into the first sentence of Article IV. This would cause Article IV to read:

“I direct that the rest and residue of my estate, **[and]** the payment of the specific bequests . . . be divided . . .”

and distributed in three equal shares, with the value of the personal property and the million dollars being counted toward Mrs. Roberts' one-third share of the gross estate. [See tr. of hearing of December 17, 2013, p. 30, R. 235, lines 10-22.] In other words, the bequests of Article II and Article III are put back into the residue, so that the residue consists of the entire gross estate. [Appellants' amended answer & counterclaim, ¶¶ 17-25, R. 81-83.]

It is true that the scrivener omitted a needed conjunction after the comma which punctuates the end of the first clause of Article IV, but the missing conjunction can only be

“**after**”, not “**and**”, as the courts below found. In this way, Article IV means:

“I direct that the rest and residue of my estate, [**after**] the payment of the specific bequests, . . . be divided . . .”

As the circuit court observed:

The South Carolina Probate Code does not define “residue” or “residuary devise.” Generally speaking, a residuary clause of a will is that clause which disposes of property, usually not specifically described, which has not been disposed of by the other provisions of the will. 96 C.J.S. *Wills* § 796, p. 215. A residuary clause commonly refers to the “rest, residue or remainder,” or uses language of similar import. *Id.* at p. 217. A residuary clause is “[a] testamentary clause that disposes of any estate property remaining **after** the satisfaction of specific bequests and devises.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 1311 (7th ed. 1999). “Residue” means “[s]omething that is left over **after** a part is removed or disposed of; a remainder.” *Id.* Article IV of Mrs. Lown’s will is plainly a residuary clause. It was not intended effectively to nullify the specific bequests of the preceding two articles, as the construction proposed by the appellants would do. The residue consists of what is left **after** the specific bequests are made and **after** the expenses of the estate are paid.

Order, pp. 4-5, R. 27-28 (emphasis added).

Taking back the bequests clearly made in Articles II and III and placing that property in the residue would run afoul of a settled rule in the construction of wills.

“When a gift is made in one clause of a will in clear and unequivocal terms, the quantity or quality of the estate given should not be cut down or qualified by words of doubtful import found in a subsequent clause. To have that effect, the subsequent words should be at least as clear in expressing that intention as the words in which the interest is given.”

*Schroder v. Antipas*, 215 S.C. 552, 56 S.E.2d 354, 355 (1949), quoting *Walker v. Alverson*, 87 S.C. 55, 68 S.E. 966, 968 (1910). In accord are the many cases cited in *Schroder* and, more recently, *Limehouse v. Limehouse*, 256 S.C. 255, 259, 182 S.E.2d 58, 60 (1971), where Justice Brailsford observed for the Court:

“[W]here an estate is once given by words of clear and ascertained legal significance, it will neither be enlarged nor cut down by superadded words in the same or subsequent clauses of the will, unless they raise an irresistible inference that such was the intention of the testator \* \* \*.” *Lawrence v. Burnett*, 109 S.C. 416, 422, 96 S.E. 144, 146 (1918).

The construction of Article IV urged by the appellants in the courts below would effectively

nullify the earlier bequests of Articles II and III, requiring Mrs. Roberts to earn those bequests over again by debiting her one-third of the residue by the value of the earlier specific bequests.

The appellants cannot now abandon the position consistently taken in their pleading and at every stage in the courts below.

We consider the pleadings in this case in the light of the general rule, that the parties to an action are judicially concluded and bound by such unless withdrawn, altered or stricken by amendment or otherwise. The allegations, statements or admissions contained in a pleading are conclusive as against the pleader. It follows that a party cannot subsequently take a position contradictory of, or inconsistent with, his pleadings and the facts which are admitted by the pleadings are to be taken as true against the pleader for the purpose of the action.

*Elrod v. All*, 243 S.C. 425, 435, 134 S.E.2d 410, 416 (1964).

B. Even if one million dollars were to be withheld from Mrs. Roberts' share of the residue, that money would not go to the appellants. It would go to Mrs. Lown's heirs, none of whom appeared in this action to advocate such a construction of the will.

The probate court ruled that Mrs. Lown's will contains no failed devise. The appellants did not challenge that finding in their grounds of appeal to the circuit court. On appeal, the circuit court reiterated the finding of no failed devise and explained the basis for it, in detail. The appellants did not move the circuit court under Rule 59, SCRCP, to reconsider this or any other portion of the order affirming the probate court. It is the law of the case that Mrs. Lown's will contains no failed devise. Hence, Section 62-2-604(b) of the Probate Code, dealing with failed devises, has no application to this case. It was the consistent position of the appellants that the gross estate is validly devised in equal thirds to Mrs. Roberts and the two appellants.

Because the appellants cannot switch theories at this final stage of the case, this Court of Appeals has no issue to decide concerning "failed devises." But even if such an issue were before the Court, it is plain that there is no failed devise. As the circuit court pointed out, a failed devise is most commonly one to a beneficiary who predeceases the

testator, or a devise which is void for illegality. There is no such thing as a “partial failed devise”. The devise to Mrs. Roberts is valid. The only question pertains to the amount.

If Mrs. Lown’s will were to be construed so as to withhold one million dollars from Mrs. Roberts’ one-third share of the residue, the withheld million would not constitute a “failed devise” under any possible concept of that term. It would constitute property withheld from the residuary gift. It would pass by intestacy since Section 62-2-604(b) deals only with failed devises. The common law of this State remains intact where the will does not dispose of all the testator’s property. See *Padgett v. Black*, 229 S.C. 142, 92 S.E.2d 153 (1956) (generally a lapsed legacy falls into residuum, but where a lapsed legacy is part of residuum itself, it is distributed as intestate property) (unless the later-enacted “failed devise” provision of § 62-2-604(b) applies). The common law rule is altered by Section 62-2-604 only with respect to “failed devises.” If the testatrix intended to subtract a million dollars from her residuary gift to Mrs. Roberts, the million dollars would not be a “failed devise” but simply a portion of the estate not disposed of by will, passing by intestacy.<sup>4</sup>

\* \* \* \* \*

The question before the circuit court on appeal was not whether there may be a construction of this will which is better than the one made by the probate court. The question was whether the construction advocated by the appellants in the probate court was correct as a matter of law. The construction proposed by the appellants in both courts below converts the residue into the gross estate and rewrites the will. It depends entirely upon inserting a wrong conjunction into the opening words of Article IV. Whatever else

---

<sup>4</sup> Although Mrs. Roberts’ obituary stated that she died without heirs, she had a number of distant relations. [See pp. 71-78, R. 175-82, transcript of probate court hearing of 1/31/12.] All were made parties to this action and all defaulted or withdrew their answers. No party contended in the courts below that the “less, however” language of Article IV meant that a million dollars should be withheld from Mrs. Roberts’ share of the residue and should pass by intestate succession. Construing the will as a whole, the probate court construed the residuary bequest to Mrs. Roberts to constitute one-third of the residuum, **not including** the specific bequest of Article II.

may be said of it, the appellants' proposed construction surely was not right as a matter of law, nor is the new one advanced in this Court of Appeals.

Even if the appellants were permitted against the rules to jettison their position in the courts below and to adopt the new one, it would do them no good. If the will were construed to withhold one million dollars from Mrs. Roberts' share of the residue, that sum would not pass to the appellants as a failed devise. It would go to the heirs by intestate succession. None of Mrs. Roberts' distant relations appeared in this action to make such a claim.

## II.

### **The admission of the draftsman's evidence was harmless error.**

Mr. Cabaniss, the draftsman of the will, testified that Mrs. Lown's intention was to devise to Mrs. Roberts her personal property, and one million dollars, and one-third of the residue. The probate court accepted that evidence but stated that it reached the same construction of the will without regard to this testimony. [Order of June 26, 2012, ¶ (III), p. 12, R. 12; and p. 13, R. 13, final sentence.] On appeal, the circuit court held that the admission of this evidence was harmless error since both the probate court and the circuit court construed the will in that way, without regard to this evidence.

Where the trial judge admits incompetent evidence in a bench trial, the error is harmless unless the judge "either affirmatively relied on the incompetent evidence, or could not have reached the same result without relying on the incompetent evidence." *Brown v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 344 S.C. 21, 542 S.E.2d 723 (2001). Unlike the case at bar, in the *Brown* case the trial judge did not state that the outcome would have been the same without the evidence later found inadmissible. The Supreme Court nonetheless found the error harmless. In the case at bar, the circuit court on appeal did not consider the incompetent evidence but reached the same construction of the will as did the probate court.

The appellants contend, in effect, that the admission of incompetent evidence in a

bench trial is reversible error *per se*. This is not the case, however. The admission of Mr. Cabaniss's testimony was harmless error.

**CONCLUSION**

Neither the construction of Mrs. Lown's will urged by the appellants in the courts below, nor the construction urged in this Court of Appeals, is correct as a matter of law. Hence, their appeal must fail.

The respondent therefore asks the Court to affirm the judgment.